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A.  INTRODUCTION 
 

Recommendation 38 of the Report of the Washington State Jury 

Commission implores: 

TRIAL JUDGES SHOULD MAKE EVERY EFFORT TO 

RESPOND FULLY AND FAIRLY TO QUESTIONS 

FROM DELIBERATING JURORS. JUDGES SHOULD 

NOT MERELY REFER THEM TO THE INSTRUCTIONS 

WITHOUT FURTHER COMMENT … 

 

(All caps in original). The recommendation reinforces this Court’s rule 

that jury instructions be made manifestly clear, especially when the due 

process rights of a defendant are at stake.  

In this case, the jury sent out multiple questions asking how to 

reconcile the conflict between the “to convict” instruction and the 

affirmative defense instruction – in other words, it asked what to do if it 

found both the elements of the crime and the elements of the affirmative 

defense. Mr. Sanders proposed three alternative clarifying instructions – 

each of which was legally correct and would have made the law 

manifestly apparent. But instead of clarifying that the jury was required to 

acquit if it found both the elements of the crime and the elements of the 

defense, the court repeatedly told the jury to re-read its instructions. The 

instructions did not answer the question. 

This Court should grant review. Trial courts appear to be afraid of 

doing anything other than telling jurors to re-read their instructions, even 
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when instructions are incomplete or unclear. Moreover, Division Three 

recently issued an opinion in conflict with Division One’s opinion in Mr. 

Sanders’s case. This Court should empower trial judges to clarify the law 

for jurors and protect the due process rights of defendants.  

B.  IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW 
 

 Gary Sanders, through his attorney, Lila J. Silverstein, asks this 

Court to review opinion of the Court of Appeals in State v. Sanders, No. 

75075-5-I (filed October 22, 2018). A copy of the opinion is attached as 

Appendix A. 

C.  ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Jury instructions must make the law manifestly apparent, and 

where a deliberating jury expresses confusion as a result of ambiguous 

instructions, a court must provide clarifying instructions. Here, the “to 

convict” instruction for felony murder told the jury it had a duty to convict 

if it found all the elements of the crime, but the affirmative defense 

instruction told the jury it had a duty to acquit if it found all the elements 

of the defense. The jury repeatedly indicated it was confused about what 

to do if it found all the elements of both the crime and the defense. Did the 

trial court err in refusing to provide Mr. Sanders’s proposed clarifying 

instructions and instead referring the jury to the original ambiguous 

instructions? And should this Court grant review to clarify for trial courts 



 3 

that judges have the power and duty to clarify the law in response to jury 

questions, especially where the due process rights of defendants are at 

stake? RAP 13.4(b)(2), (3), (4). 

D.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Three other people planned a burglary; Mr. Sanders 

was not initially involved, but the others stopped to 

give him a ride on their way to the target home.   

 

Corey Mann and his cousin Tiana Wood-Sims planned to steal 

money and drugs from Wood-Sims’s friend, Latasha Walker. RP 1606-07. 

They planned for Wood-Sims to spend the day with Walker away from 

Walker’s apartment so that Mann could steal the money and drugs 

unimpeded. RP 1611-12, 1615, 1763. Mann recruited his friend Michael 

Galloway to help. RP 1072-73.  

Petitioner Gary Sanders, who is married to one of Mr. Mann’s 

sisters, was not involved in planning the crime. RP 2140, 2143. Indeed, he 

had no criminal history whatsoever. RP (4/15/16) 56. 

 On the day of the intended burglary, Mr. Mann saw Mr. Sanders 

walking and stopped to offer him a ride. RP 2135, 2138-39. Mr. Sanders 

said he was going to the am/pm store, but Mr. Mann did not stop and drop 

him off there. RP 2139-41. Instead, they drove south, stopping at various 

places including Mr. Galloway’s girlfriend’s house. RP 1076, 2141. Mr. 

Mann and Mr. Galloway took turns driving, while Mr. Sanders sat silently 
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in the car. RP 1076, 1082, 2143. Mr. Galloway and Mr. Sanders did not 

really know each other prior to that day. RP 1066, 1071. 

 The three eventually stopped at Mr. Galloway’s home because he 

wanted to pick up his gun. RP 1078. Mr. Galloway put the gun in the trunk 

of the car. RP 1081-82, 1092, 1105. 

 As the men drove around, Mr. Mann was exchanging text 

messages with Ms. Wood-Sims, and telling Mr. Galloway where to go. RP 

1083-84, 1609-11, 1619, 1733-35. According to Mr. Galloway, Mr. 

Sanders sat silently in the back seat. RP 1082, 1090, 1103. According to 

Mr. Sanders, he asked Mr. Mann what was going on. RP 2140, 2144. 

 Before Mr. Mann could execute his plan, Ms. Wood-Sims and Ms. 

Walker returned to Ms. Walker’s apartment. RP 1619-20. Ms. Wood-Sims 

texted this information to Mr. Mann. RP 1623-24. The three men went to 

the apartment anyway, knocked on the door, and asked if they could 

borrow jumper cables or a telephone. RP 1106, 1738, 2148. Ms. Walker 

was in her bedroom and called out to Ms. Wood-Sims to answer the door. 

RP 1738, 1741. 

 Ms. Wood-Sims opened the door and one or more of the men 

pushed her towards the couch. RP 1106, 1742, 2149-50. Ms. Wood-Sims 

sat down on the couch and Mr. Mann and Mr. Galloway went into Ms. 

Walker’s bedroom. RP 1748-51.  
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Mr. Sanders stood in the living room doing nothing. RP 1748-51, 

2151. 

Ms. Wood-Sims heard a commotion in the bedroom. She heard 

Ms. Walker say, “What’s going on?” RP 1751. Then she heard “tussling.” 

RP 1751. Mr. Mann and Mr. Galloway then said, “Where’s the money?” 

and Ms. Walker responded, “Hold on, hold on.” Ms. Wood-Sims then 

heard more “tussling,” followed by silence. RP 1751-52.  

Mr. Sanders remained in the living room with Ms. Wood-Sims 

throughout this period.  RP 1751-52, 1830. 

After it “got quiet” in the bedroom, Mann and Galloway yelled for 

Mr. Sanders to join them. RP 1752. Ms. Wood-Sims told him to “check 

the closet” when he entered the bedroom. RP 1752. Mr. Sanders went into 

the bedroom and, according to Ms. Wood-Sims, he helped the others 

remove some items. RP 1752-53. Ms. Walker was on the floor, slouched 

against the dresser, with a belt loosely tied around her neck. RP 1755, 

1771-72. 

According to Mr. Sanders, he only pretended to help steal the 

items from the dresser. He was stunned when he saw that the others had 

hurt the woman in the bedroom, but was too paralyzed with shock to help 

her. RP 2171-73.  
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The men left with some of Ms. Walker’s belongings. RP 1771. 

According to Mr. Sanders, Mr. Galloway brandished a gun at him as they 

were leaving to get him to hurry up. RP 2176. Mr. Sanders had not seen 

the gun before they were in the apartment, and was unaware Mr. Galloway 

had it. RP 2176. Ms. Wood-Sims never saw any weapons at all, and Mr. 

Galloway insisted he left the gun in the trunk of the car. RP 1105, 1829-

30. Ms. Walker died of internal injuries as a result of having been punched 

in her midsection. RP 1935. 

2. At trial, the judge refused to provide clarifying 

instructions to the jury; at sentencing, the judge 

acknowledged Mr. Sanders’s lesser culpability.   

 

Corey Mann, Michael Galloway, Tiana Wood-Sims, and petitioner 

Gary Sanders were all eventually charged with first-degree felony murder. 

CP 1. Mr. Galloway and Ms. Wood-Sims pleaded guilty to lesser crimes. 

RP 1187, 1780. Mr. Mann, who was the most culpable of the four, and Mr. 

Sanders, whom the judge later described as the least culpable, exercised 

their constitutional rights to trial and were tried together. RP (4/15/16) 58-

60. 

Numerous witnesses testified at trial, including Ms. Wood-Sims, 

Mr. Galloway, and Mr. Sanders. After the close of evidence the court 

instructed the jury on the meaning of accomplice liability and the elements 

of first-degree felony murder. CP 202, 206. As to Mr. Sanders only, the 
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court also granted a request to instruct the jury on the lesser crimes of 

second-degree felony murder, robbery, and burglary. CP 217-23, 225-27. 

Also as to Mr. Sanders only, the jury was instructed on the affirmative 

defense that applies to alleged accomplices to felony murder. CP 217, 224. 

During deliberations, the jury posed three questions to the court, 

two of which indicated confusion regarding the interplay between the 

elements of the crime and the affirmative defense. Over Mr. Sanders’s 

objections, the court rejected his proposed clarifying instructions and 

instead referred the jury to the existing instructions. CP 139-58; RP 2421. 

The jury convicted both defendants of first degree felony murder. 

RP 2423; CP 159. Based on an offender score of zero, Mr. Sanders was 

sentenced to 20 years in prison. CP 167, 169. 

On appeal, Mr. Sanders argued the trial court erred in failing to 

make manifestly clear to the jurors, who had repeatedly indicated 

confusion, that if they found all four elements of the affirmative defense 

they were required to acquit Mr. Sanders of being an accomplice to felony 

murder. The Court of Appeals rejected the claim. Contrary to the jury’s 

repeated explanations regarding why the interplay of the “to convict” and 

affirmative defense instructions was unclear, the Court of Appeals posited 

that the original instructions were “not ambiguous” and therefore no 

clarifying instruction was necessary. Slip Op. at 16, 19. 
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E.  ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

This Court should empower trial judges to clarify the 

law for jurors and protect the due process rights of 

defendants.  

 

1. The jury repeatedly expressed confusion but the 

judge rejected Mr. Sanders’s proposed curative 

instructions and instead referred the jury to the 

ambiguous original instructions .   

 

The court’s original instructions to the jury included the standard 

“to convict” instructions for felony murder and the standard affirmative 

defense instruction for less-culpable accomplices. Instruction 13 provided: 

To convict a defendant of the crime of Murder in the First 

Degree, each of the following elements of the crime must 

be proved beyond a reasonable doubt: 

 

(1) That on or about June 3, 2013, the defendant committed 

Robbery in the First Degree or Burglary in the First 

Degree; 

 

(2) That the defendant or another participant in the crime 

caused the death of Latasha Walker in the course of or in 

furtherance of such crime; 

 

(3) That Latasha Walker was not a participant in the crime 

of Robbery in the First Degree or Burglary in the First 

Degree; and 

 

(4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of 

Washington. 

 

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements 

has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will 

be your duty to return a verdict of guilty. 
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On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, 

you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these 

elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not 

guilty. 

 

CP 206 (emphasis added); see RCW 9A.32.030 (1)(c). Instruction 24G, 

which applied to Mr. Sanders only, provided: 

It is a defense to a charge of Murder in the First and Second 

Degree that the defendant: 

 

(1) Did not commit the homicidal act or in any way solicit, 

request, command, importune, cause or aid the 

commission thereof; and 

 

(2) Was not armed with a deadly weapon, or any instrument, 

article, or substance readily capable of causing death or 

serious physical injury; and 

 

(3) Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other 

participant was armed with such a weapon, instrument, 

article, or substance; and 

 

(4) Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other 

participant intended to engage in conduct likely to result 

in death or serious physical injury. 

 

The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a 

preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the 

evidence means that you must be persuaded, considering all 

the evidence in the case, that it is more probably true than 

not true. If you find that the defendant has established 

this defense, it will be your duty to return a verdict of 

not guilty as to this charge. 

 

CP 224 (emphasis added); see RCW 9A.32.030 (1)(c). The concluding 

instruction explained how the jury was to fill out the verdict forms and in 

particular, how the forms for the charged offense and the lesser offenses 
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related to each other. CP 228-30. The concluding instruction did not, 

however, mention the affirmative defense. Id. 

 During deliberations, the jury sent out three questions. The first 

was: “Does the instruction #13 apply to Defendant Gary Sanders?” CP 

157. With the agreement of the parties, the court answered “Yes.” CP 140, 

158.  

 The next morning, the jury sent out a second question, consisting 

of two parts: 

As it relates to defendant Sanders: 

 

There are questions regarding the sequence of deliberations 

as it relates to the instructions. … 

 

Question #1: If the jury determines that all of the elements 

of the crime as identified in Instruction 13 are proven, how 

is the jury to apply Instruction 24G? 

 

Question #2: If the jury determines that the defenses 

identified in Instruction 24G are all proven out, how does 

that fact affect the proof established in Instruction #13? 

 

CP 153. 

 The parties and court exchanged e-mail messages regarding the 

appropriate response to the above inquiries. Mr. Sanders proposed the 

following response: “If the jury agree that the four factors in Instruction 

24G have been established, the verdicts for Defendant Gary Sanders on 

--
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Verdict Forms A and B as to him should be Not Guilty.” CP 146.1 Mr. 

Sanders proposed in the alternative that the court provide a special verdict 

form asking, “Do the jury find that each of the four factors listed in 

Instruction 24G has been established? Answer: ___ Yes  ___ No.” CP 146. 

 The court rejected Mr. Sanders’s proposal and his alternative 

proposal and instead told the jury:  

Please re-read your instructions carefully. The use of 

verdict forms and how they are to be applied is contained 

within. 

 

CP 154. 

 A few hours later, the jury submitted yet another question: 

As it relates to Defendant Sanders: Can the jury convict for 

murder in 1st degree based upon item 13 as written, without 

consideration of instruction 24G[?] 

 

CP 155. The court proposed to remind the jury to read the instructions in 

their entirety. CP 156. Mr. Sanders objected and proposed clearer 

responses. Counsel stated: 

I object to the Court’s proposed answer to Jury Question 3 

(March 1, time 1440) because it does not answer the 

question. The question itself is ambiguous. I propose that a 

substitute To-Convict instruction be given for each offense, 

felony murder 1 and the lesser crime of felony murder 2, in 

which the To-Convict instruction for each offense adds the 

absence of the four factors of affirmative defense. 

                                                 
1 Verdict Form A was for first-degree felony murder and Verdict 

Form B was for the lesser offense of second-degree felony murder. CP 

159-60. 
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I’m working on drafts for those to-convict instructions. 

 

I do not waive Mr. Sanders’ objections expressed for Jury 

Question No. 2 (March 1, time 9:45) and reiterate my 

proposed special verdict and proposed answer. 

 

CP 149. 

 The court again rejected Mr. Sanders’s various alternative 

proposals and instead instructed the jury: 

You must consider all the instructions as a whole. Read the 

instructions in their entirety. 

 

CP 156.  

The instructions in their entirety, however, did not explain how to 

resolve the conflict between Instruction 13, which imposed a duty to 

convict, and Instruction 24G, which imposed a duty to acquit. To the 

extent the final instruction resolved the conflict it resolved it in favor of 

conviction, because it did not mention the affirmative defense at all. CP 

228-30. 

2. The failure to make the law clear violates due 

process, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).   

 

Jury instructions, read as a whole, “must make the relevant legal 

standard manifestly apparent to the average juror.” State v. Smith, 174 Wn. 

App. 359, 369, 298 P.3d 785 (2013) (quoting State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 

856, 864, 215 P.3d 177 (2009)). The standard of clarity is higher than that 
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for statutes. State v. Bland, 128 Wn. App. 511, 515, 116 P.3d 428 (2005). 

Although courts apply principles of statutory construction to resolve 

legislative ambiguities, “a jury lacks such interpretive tools and thus 

requires a manifestly clear instruction.” State v. LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d 896, 

902, 913 P.2d 369 (1996) (abrogated on other grounds by State v. O’Hara, 

167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)).2  

Unclear jury instructions may violate the constitutional rights to 

due process and to present a defense. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV. For 

instance, in LeFaber this Court held, “the jury instruction failed to make 

manifestly clear the law of self-defense and thereby prevented Defendant 

from obtaining a fair trial.” LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d at 898. And in Bland, the 

court recognized that an unclear instruction on defense of property “raised 

a constitutional issue.” Bland, 128 Wn. App. at 516. 

Because the failure to provide clear jury instructions implicates a 

defendant’s significant constitutional rights to due process and to present a 

defense, this Court should grant review. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; 

RAP 13.4(b)(3).    

                                                 
2 The portion of LeFaber that was abrogated by O’Hara was the 

portion addressing when instructional error may be raised for the first time 

on appeal under RAP 2.5(a)(3). That is not an issue here, as Mr. Sanders 

vigorously objected to the court’s answers to the jury’s second and third 

inquiries, and proposed three different solutions to cure the unclear 

instructions. CP 146, 149. 
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3. The issue is one of substantial public interest 

warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because 

research shows “the failure of trial judges to be of 

greater assistance to jurors during deliberations is a 

primary source of juror confusion.”   

 

The issue is also one of substantial public interest, as demonstrated 

by comments of the Pattern Instructions committee and findings of the 

Washington State Jury Commission. 

When instructions are not clear and a deliberating jury seeks 

clarification, “[t]he judge should respond to the question in open court or 

in writing (if the question relates to a point of law, the answer should be 

written).” Comment to WPIC 151.00. Among other references, the 

comment to WPIC 151.00 directs judges to review Recommendation 38 of 

the Report of the Washington State Jury Commission for “more complete 

discussions of the issues involved in handling questions from deliberating 

jurors[.]” Id. Recommendation 38 provides, in relevant part: 

TRIAL JUDGES SHOULD MAKE EVERY EFFORT TO 

RESPOND FULLY AND FAIRLY TO QUESTIONS 

FROM DELIBERATING JURORS. JUDGES SHOULD 

NOT MERELY REFER THEM TO THE INSTRUCTIONS 

WITHOUT FURTHER COMMENT …. 

 

Washington State Jury Commission Recommendation 38 (all-caps in 

original).  

The next section, “Questions from Deliberating Jurors,” provides 

in part: 
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The failure of trial judges to be of greater assistance to 

jurors during deliberations is a primary source of juror 

confusion. Research shows that the vast majority of the 

time, judges answer jurors’ requests for clarification of 

instructions by simply referring the jurors to the 

instructions without further comment. 

 

Id. The final section, “Providing Full Responses,” urges: “Although many 

judges and lawyers consider juror questions an inconvenience, they should 

be welcomed as opportunities to determine whether additional or 

corrective action is necessary to ensure juror comprehension.” Id. 

 The trial judge here violated the above rules by failing to correct 

ambiguous jury instructions with manifestly clear curative instructions. 

Mr. Sanders suggested three different ways the court could have clarified 

the law, but the court rejected them all and simply referred the jury to the 

existing instructions. CP 146, 149, 153-56. 

 As the jury indicated, the existing instructions were inadequate 

because they did not explain how to resolve the conflict if the jury found 

all of the elements in the to-convict instruction and all of the elements of 

the affirmative defense. One instruction mandated a duty to convict and 

the other a duty to acquit. CP 206, 224. The concluding instruction was 

ambiguous and did not even mention the affirmative defense – thereby 

resolving the conflict in favor of conviction to the extent it resolved it at 

all. CP 228-30. 
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 Mr. Sanders’s counsel correctly indicated that the way the jury 

must resolve the conflict is to find the defendant not guilty of murder. CP 

146 (“If the jury agree that the four factors in Instruction 24G have been 

established, the verdicts for Defendant Gary Sanders on Verdict Forms A 

and B as to him should be Not Guilty.”); see RCW 9A.32.030 (1)(c). 

There is no question that the proposed curative instruction was a correct 

statement of the law and no question that it rendered otherwise ambiguous 

instructions manifestly clear. Yet the trial court declined to give the 

instruction. 

 Mr. Sanders’s alternative proposals were equally valid options. CP 

146, 149. If the jury had been provided the proposed special verdict form, 

then the court and parties would have known whether the jury found Mr. 

Sanders proved the defense and whether any “guilty” verdict for murder 

would have to be vacated. Mr. Sanders’s third alternative proposal, 

merging the to-convict and affirmative defense instructions, also would 

have clarified the jury’s job and would have been consistent with the 

structure of the statute. See RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c). 

 This Court reversed a conviction and remanded for a new trial in 

similar circumstances in LeFaber. There, a jury instruction on self-defense 

was not manifestly clear. LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d at 898. The instruction 

(“instruction 20”) could have been read to require actual imminent danger 
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whereas self-defense is available when a defendant reasonably believes he 

is in imminent danger. Id. at 898-99. “Although a juror could read 

instruction 20 to arrive at the proper law, the offending sentence lacks any 

grammatical signal compelling that interpretation over the alternative, 

conflicting, and erroneous reading.” Id. at 902-03. Similarly here, although 

a juror could read the instructions to conclude properly that a finding of all 

the elements in Instruction 24G trumps a finding of all the elements in 

Instruction 13, nothing in the instructions compels that interpretation over 

the alternative erroneous reading. 

 The opinion in State v. Campbell, 163 Wn. App. 394, 260 P.3d 235 

(2011) is also instructive.3 There, the trial court failed to instruct the jury 

regarding how it could properly answer “no” on a special verdict form. Id. 

at 397. During deliberations, the jury requested clarification on this issue, 

but, over defense counsel’s objection, the trial court merely referred the 

jury to the existing instructions. Id.at 398-99. The appellate court held “the 

trial court abused its discretion in determining not to further instruct the 

jury.” Id. at 397. 

                                                 
3 Campbell was reversed on reconsideration because the 

underlying law at issue changed (i.e. the law regarding jury unanimity and 

sentence enhancements). The court’s discussion of the duty to make jury 

instructions manifestly clear remains good law. 
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 The court explained, “In order for jury instructions to be sufficient, 

they must be readily understood and not misleading to the ordinary mind.” 

Campbell, 163 Wn. App. at 400. Moreover, “even if the ambiguity of the 

instructions given was not apparent at the time they were issued, the jury’s 

question identified their deficiency.” Id. at 402. “[W]here a jury’s question 

to the court indicates an erroneous understanding of the applicable law, it 

is incumbent upon the trial court to issue a corrective instruction.” Id. 

 Similarly here, it was incumbent upon the trial court to issue a 

corrective instruction when the jury’s repeated questions revealed an 

ambiguity in the original instructions regarding the interplay of the “to 

convict” instruction and the affirmative defense instruction. The 

reluctance of trial courts to clarify the law for juries and protect the rights 

of defendants in these circumstances is a matter of substantial public 

interest warranting this Court’s review. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

4. This case conflicts with a Division Three case, 

warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).   

 

Division Three issued a conflicting opinion shortly after Division 

One decided Mr. Sanders’s appeal. See State v. Backemeyer, ___ Wn. 

App. ___, 428 P.3d 366 (2018). In Backemeyer, the State charged the 

defendant with assault of a bar bouncer but Backemeyer argued he acted 

in self-defense. 428 P.3d at 368. The court instructed the jury on self-
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defense, the right to “act on appearances,” and the absence of a duty to 

retreat. Id. During deliberations, the jury sent out two questions regarding 

whether the defendant’s potentially illegal act of possessing marijuana in 

the bar negated his right to be in the bar and his right to use self-defense. 

Id. at 369. The defendant agreed to the court’s decision to respond, 

“Please read your instructions.” Id. 

Division Three reversed and remanded for a new trial, holding the 

defendant “was denied effective assistance of counsel when the jury’s 

questions to the court made it manifest that the jury did not understand the 

law of self-defense and counsels’ agreed response did not provide the jury 

any clarity.” Backemeyer, 428 P.3d at 369. Division Three stated that if 

counsel had requested a tailored instruction rather than the “generic 

response,” it saw “no reason why, if asked, the trial court would have 

refused such a request.” Id. at 370. “When a jury makes explicit its 

difficulties a trial judge should clear them away with concrete accuracy.” 

Id. (quoting Bollenback v. United States, 326 U.S. 607, 612-13, 66 S. Ct. 

402, 90 L. Ed. 350 (1946)). 

Yet here, where defense counsel heroically provided multiple 

alternative legally correct clarifying responses, the court rejected them all 

in favor of a generic response, and Division One affirmed. This conflict is 
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untenable. It is manifestly unfair that Backemeyer received a new trial and 

Mr. Sanders did not. This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

F.  CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above Gary Sanders respectfully requests 

that this Court grant review.   

DATED this 9th day of November, 2018. 

 

Lila J. Silverstein 

WSBA #38394 

Attorney for Petitioner 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

V. 

GARY BERNARD SANDERS 11, 
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COREY ASTANLIVIN MANN, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Defendant. ) 
-------------

No. 75075-5-1 

DIVISION ONE 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

FILED: October 22, 2018 

SCHINDLER, J. - Gary Bernard Sanders II seeks reversal of the jury conviction 

for felony murder in the first degree. Sanders claims the trial court erred in refusing to 

give a clarifying instruction during jury deliberations and insufficient evidence supports 

the jury finding him guilty of the predicate crime of burglary in the first degree. The to­

convict jury instruction and the instruction on the statutory affirmative defense to felony 

murder in the first degree accurately state the law. The jury instructions made the law 

manifestly apparent and when read as a whole, were not ambiguous. The court did not 

abuse its discretion by instructing the jury to consider the instructions as a whole and 

refusing to give a clarifying instruction. We also conclude sufficient evidence supports 
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the jury finding Sanders guilty of the predicate crime of burglary in the first degree, and 

affirm the jury verdict. 

FACTS 

In 2013, 24-year-old Latasha Walker lived with her boyfriend Kenneth McGee in 

an apartment in Kent. McGee sold Oxycodone. Tiana Rose Wood-Sims lived across 

the street with her mother, her stepfather, and the young twins of her cousin Corey 

Astanlivin Mann. 

Wood-Sims started spending time with Walker in 2013, "hanging out" and using 

drugs. Wood-Sims told her cousin Mann that McGee kept drugs and a "couple 

thousand" dollars in the bedroom dresser and closet in the apartment. Wood-Sims 

suggested Mann steal the money and drugs while McGee was in jail on a probation 

violation. Wood-Sims would take some of the drugs and Mann would keep the money 

and the remainder of the drugs. Wood-Sims planned to spend the day with Walker 

away from the apartment so Mann could steal the money and drugs from the apartment. 

On June 3, 2013, Mann borrowed a Chevrolet Malibu. Mann and his sister's 

fiance Gary Bernard Sanders II drove from Everett to Burien to pick up Michael Vincent 

Galloway. Mann told Galloway that he planned to commit a "robbery" to get "$15,000 

and a bunch of pills." Mann told Galloway that "his cousin had it set up." Mann showed 

Galloway a text message from Wood-Sims saying the "money and the pills" were "in a 

sock in the dresser drawer." Galloway agreed to go with Mann and Sanders. But 

Galloway told Mann and Sanders he first "wanted to go to my house so I could grab my 

gun." Galloway got the gun and "tucked it into [his] shorts." Because it was "bulging 
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out," Galloway decided to put the gun in the trunk of the car. Mann and Wood-Sims 

exchanged approximately 62 text messages that day. 

Unbeknownst to Wood-Sims and Mann, McGee had been released from jail on 

June 3. McGee did not tell Walker because he wanted to "surprise her." McGee went 

to the apartment but "[n]obody was there." McGee "grabbed some money," changed his 

clothes, and left. 

While waiting at the apartment complex in Kent, Mann got a text from Wood­

Sims saying she and Walker were in the apartment. After Wood-Sims sent the text to 

Mann, Walker "noticed that money was missing and someone had been in the 

apartment" and called McGee's brother. 

Minutes after Wood-Sims and Walker arrived at the apartment, Galloway 

knocked on the door. When Wood-Sims asked, "[W]ho is it," Galloway said he was "her 

neighbor" and he needed "a phone" or "jumper cables." Wood-Sims knew the men 

were there to steal the money and pills. Wood-Sims turned the lock to open the door so 

they could "come in ... [t]o get money and drugs." 

Galloway, Mann, and Sanders "rushed" into the apartment. Sanders and 

Galloway pushed Wood-Sims onto the couch, put a pillow over her face, and Sanders 

took her cell phone. Mann told Sanders and Galloway to stop because "she's part of it." 

Mann and Galloway went into the bedroom. Sanders stayed in the living room. 

Wood-Sims heard Walker say, "[W]hat's going on," then heard "tussling" and Mann and 

Galloway "say, where's the money." Walker said, "[H]old on, hold on," and yelled for 

Wood-Sims. Wood-Sims did not respond. When "[i]t got quiet after a second," either 

Galloway or Mann "called Sanders into the room." Wood-Sims told Sanders to "check 
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the closet." After Sanders went into the bedroom, Wood-Sims heard "stuff being thrown 

around" and riffling. 

When Wood-Sims approached the bedroom door, Mann, Galloway, and Sanders 

came out of the bedroom carrying a "briefcase type thing" and a "pillowcase with things 

in it." Wood-Sims saw Sanders take some video game equipment from the living room. 

Before they left, Mann slapped Wood-Sims in the face "to make this look legit." 

Wood-Sims found Walker slumped against the dresser on the floor in the 

bedroom. Her pants were torn and partially pulled down and there was a belt around 

her neck. When Walker did not respond, Wood-Sims ran to get help. A neighbor called 

911 and performed CPR1 on Walker. When paramedics arrived, Walker had "no pulse." 

She "was not breathing" and the cardiac monitor showed a "flat line." 

Medical examiner Dr. Aldo Fusaro performed an autopsy. Walker had bruises on 

her face and lacerations in her mouth from "blunt force" to her face. Dr. Fusaro 

concluded Walker died from multiple, severe blunt force injuries to her liver, including 

one laceration that left "the left lobe of the liver ... almost torn off from the rest of the 

liver," that caused her to bleed to death. 

McGee reported a number of items were stolen from the apartment, including two 

laptops, diamond earrings, a gold Michael Kors watch, and baseball hats. 

Wood-Sims, Galloway, Mann, and Sanders gave statements to the police. On 

March 5, 2014, Sanders told the police he had been "part of a robbery, at Latasha 

Walker's home, in June of 2013." 

1 Cardiopulmonary resuscitation. 
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On March 12, 2014, the State charged Galloway, Mann, Wood-Sims, and 

Sanders "and each of them" with felony murder in the first degree of Latasha Walker. 

The information alleged that on June 3, 2013, "in the course of and in furtherance of' 

committing robbery in the first or second degree and "in immediate flight therefrom," the 

defendants caused the death of Walker in violation of RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c). Wood­

Sims and Galloway pleaded guilty to murder in the second degree and agreed to testify 

at trial. 

The State filed an amended information charging Mann and Sanders with felony 

murder in the first degree of Latasha Walker. The information alleged that in the course 

of and in furtherance of committing robbery in the first or second degree or burglary in 

the first degree, the defendants caused the death of Walker in violation of RCW 

9A.32.030(1)(c). Mann and Sanders pleaded not guilty. 

RCW 9A.32.030(1 )(c) defines the crime of felony murder in the first degree as 

follows: 

A person is guilty of murder in the first degree when ... [h]e or she 
commits or attempts to commit the crime of either ... robbery in the first 
or second degree ... [or] burglary in the first degree, ... and in the course 
of or in furtherance of such crime ... , he or she, or another participant, 
causes the death of a person other than one of the participants. 

RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c) states it is an affirmative defense to felony murder in the 

first degree if the defendant is "not the only participant in the underlying crime" and the 

defendant establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that he: 

(i) Did not commit the homicidal act or in any way solicit, request, 
command, importune, cause, or aid the commission, thereof; and 

(ii) Was not armed with a deadly weapon, or any instrument, 
article, or substance readily capable of causing death or serious physical 
injury; and 
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(iii) Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other 
participant was armed with such a weapon, instrument, article, or 
substance; and 

(iv) Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other 
participant intended to engage in conduct likely to result in death or 
serious physical injury. 

The State called over 20 witnesses during the four-week jury trial, including 

Wood-Sims, Galloway, the medical examiner, and detectives. The court admitted into 

evidence more than 50 exhibits. 

Wood-Sims testified that the original plan "was us to not even be there" but the 

"plan evolve[d) as it went along." Wood-Sims said Galloway knocked on the door and 

asked if he could use the phone "because something happened with his car; he was her 

neighbor." Walker thought it was McGee's brother and went into the bedroom. Wood­

Sims testified that "we had cocaine out" and McGee's brother "didn't know that [Walker] 

was doing drugs; so she kind of panicked. So she said, go get the door, and she shut 

the bedroom door." Wood-Sims said that "then I asked her, can I open the door? I told 

her that it was her neighbor, and she said, go ahead, let them use the phone." 

Wood-Sims testified that when Sanders left the living room to go into the 

bedroom, she told Sanders to "check the closet." 

Wood-Sims testified that she pleaded guilty to murder in the second degree and 

the State would recommend 220 months in prison. "Because I'm not innocent of 

Latasha's death. And I do need to pay my dues to her, to her family, and to society, and 

it's just that I have to do that for Tasha. That's just what's right." 

Galloway testified he did not take his gun into Walker's apartment. Galloway 

said Sanders pushed Wood-Sims onto the couch in the living room but Mann told him to 

stop because "she's part of it." Galloway testified that while he searched the dresser, 
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Mann wrestled with Walker in the bedroom. When Galloway "couldn't find" any money 

or drugs in the dresser, he searched the closet. Galloway testified that while he 

searched the bedroom closet, Sanders and Mann were "on the bed with [Walker], 

struggling." 

Galloway testified that he saw Mann hold Walker from behind, with her back to 

his chest, and he had "her arms pinned close to her side." Sanders "was on top of her, 

holding her down." Walker was "trying to fight her way from the struggle." As Galloway 

walked out of the bedroom to search a second bedroom, he saw Sanders "hit [Walker] 

up to four times in her stomach." When Galloway went back in the bedroom, he saw 

Walker lying facedown on the floor with a belt around her neck and Sanders sitting on 

the edge of the bed next to her, "holding onto the end" of the belt. 

Galloway said he "grabbed everything that I thought I could sell." Galloway took 

baseball hats and a laptop. Galloway saw Sanders take "some Xbox controllers and 

some video games" from the living room. Galloway testified that before they left the 

apartment, Mann said, "[W]e got to make this look legit" and "hit [Wood-Sims) open­

handedly, in her face." 

Galloway testified that he, Mann, and Sanders drove to Burien. Galloway 

dropped off Mann and Sanders at the house where Mann's sister and her husband 

Dejuan Weems lived. Galloway picked up his girlfriend and drove home "a few blocks" 

away. Galloway testified that while he "was trying to retrieve my gun ... from the 

trunk," he accidentally "left the keys sitting in there" and "slammed" the trunk closed. 

Galloway called Mann for help. Mann and Sanders took a taxi to Galloway's apartment. 

Mann broke the lock with a screwdriver and retrieved the keys to the car. Galloway, his 

7 



No. 75075-5-1/8 

girlfriend, Mann, and Sanders drove to Everett. Galloway dropped off Mann and 

Sanders at Sanders' house on Casino Road. After about an hour, Galloway drove back 

to Burien with his girlfriend and Mann. 

The court admitted into evidence the phone records for Walker, Wood-Sims, and 

Mann's cell phones. Kent Police Detective Brendan Wales testified the phone records 

for Walker's cell phone showed her Samsung Galaxy S3 "turned up" on the T-Mobile 

network "under somebody else's" phone number. Detective Wales testified that a 

coworker of Dejuan Weems had the Galaxy S3. The coworker said Weems sold him 

the phone. 

Detective Wales testified the phone records for Wood-Sims' and Mann's cell 

phones showed there were more than 60 text messages between Wood-Sims and 

Mann on June 3, 2013. The June 3 phone records showed that after Wood-Sims' 

phone was stolen, the phone went from Kent, to Burien, and then "up to Everett." 

Detective Wales said that "[o]ne of the [cell phone] towers that ... the phone used was 

on Casino Road." Detective Wales testified that Sanders lived on Casino Road in 

Everett. Detective Wales testified the June 3 records for Mann's cell phone showed the 

phone was in the "Burien area, then Kent near the time of the homicide, and then back 

to the Burien area, and then all the way to Everett later in the night." 

Medical examiner Dr. Fusaro testified that Walker had abrasions on her chin and 

lower lip, lacerations on the inside of her lip, and contusions on her left cheek. Dr. 

Fusaro said there was more than a liter of "thick, bloody material" in Walker's abdomen 

as a result of "tears to both sides of her liver." Dr. Fusaro testified the injuries to 
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Walker's liver were caused by a "blunt force injury." Dr. Fusaro said Walker died from 

"blood in the abdomen, due to liver lacerations, due to blunt force injury." 

Sanders called Juan Rodriguez to testify. Rodriguez testified that when in jail 

with Mann, Mann told him he "killed a girl the summer of 2013." Mann said, "[T]hey 

were going to go get pills or money or something, and it just went south from there." 

Rodriguez testified Mann said he "was beating her up" and the girl "stopped breathing." 

Mann told Rodriguez that his "sister's baby's daddy" Sanders and Galloway were 

"involved" and "helping him out." 

On cross-examination, Rodriguez admitted that he previously told Detective 

Wales that Mann said "they were all beating her up" and both Galloway and Sanders 

"helped beat Latasha Walker." Rodriguez testified that Mann said he "hit the girl in the 

face" and Mann thought Sanders "had something in his hand when he hit Latasha 

Walker ... because [Mann] heard a clunk." 

Sanders testified. S_anders said he thought Mann was taking him "up to the mini­

mart" on June 3, 2013. According to Sanders, after Mann kept driving, Sanders asked, 

"[W]here are you going." Mann told Sanders he "need[ed] to get some money." 

Sanders insisted neither Mann nor Galloway told him what they were "about to do." 

When they arrived at the apartment in Kent, Sanders said he "hesitated ... and then 

[Mann] told me to come on." Sanders said he was "shocked" that Galloway asked 

someone inside the apartment for "jumper cables, or a phone or something." Sanders 

admitted Galloway had a gun but said the "first time [he] saw the gun" was in the 

apartment "on the way out." 
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Sanders testified that he did not push Wood-Sims, put a pillow over her face, or 

take her cell phone. Sanders said that while he was in the living room, he "heard a 

scream" and a commotion in the bedroom and then "it got quiet." Sanders testified 

either Mann or Galloway called him and he went to the bedroom but "didn't go inside the 

room." Sanders testified he saw "a woman on the floor" and Galloway and Mann were 

"looking for stuff." Sanders said he did not touch the belt or Walker. Sanders testified 

that before they left the apartment, Wood-Sims told Mann, "[Y]ou have to make it look 

good" but told him not to "slap me hard." Sanders said Mann slapped Wood-Sims "U]ust 

one time, real hard," to "make it look like [Wood-Sims] was a victim." 

Sanders testified that he did not take anything from the apartment. According to 

Sanders, after they drove to Galloway's apartment in Burien, Sanders told Mann to "get 

me home." Sanders testified that Mann called a taxi to take him home to Everett. 

On cross-examination, Sanders admitted that on March 5, 2014, he told the 

detectives that he "had been part of a robbery, at Latasha Walker's home, in June of 

2013." Sanders admitted he told the detectives that he had an agreement with Mann to 

"get $1,000 in return for [his] assistance with the robbery and the burglary." Sanders 

told the detectives that Mann "wanted me to look for the stuff, that the stuff would be in 

a drawer, that it would be some pills and some money." Sanders testified that he was in 

Walker's apartment "not because she invited" him in, but because he "was there to take 

her stuff." 

Sanders admitted he told Detective Wales that he "went in" Walker's bedroom 

and "looked in the drawers while Michael Galloway and Mr. Mann were in the room." 

Sanders testified he was "able to look through the drawers ... because Corey Mann 
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was physically restraining Latasha Walker" on the bed. Sanders testified that he "never 

saw" Galloway "touch" Walker. According to Sanders, while he and Galloway looked 

"for things in the dresser drawers," Mann grabbed Walker, "pulling her towards the 

bed[,] ... choking her ... or trying to hold her arms down." Sanders said that "at some 

point," he left the bedroom, then "returned to Latasha Walker's bedroom to find her with 

a belt around her neck." Sanders admitted telling the detectives that he "touched the 

belt around her neck." Sanders testified he tried to take the belt off Walker's neck but 

he "couldn't get it off." Sanders admitted he told the detectives her "jeans had been 

cut." Sanders insisted he "did not take anything" from the apartment and did not "hit 

Latasha Walker." 

At the conclusion of the evidence, the State proposed giving a set of jury 

instructions as to Sanders only. The State proposed a jury instruction on the affirmative 

statutory defense to felony murder in the first degree. The State also proposed 

instructions on the lesser included crimes of robbery in the first degree and burglary in 

the first degree. 

Sanders agreed and adopted the State's proposed jury instructions as "his own 

proposal." In addition, Sanders also proposed giving an instruction on felony murder in 

the second degree. 

The jury instructions state, "The order of these instructions has no significance as 

to their relative importance. They are all important. ... During your deliberations, you 

must consider the instructions as a whole." The court instructed the jury that "[a] 

separate crime is charged against each defendant. You must decide the case of each 

defendant separately. Your verdict as to one defendant should not control your verdict 
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as to the other defendant." The court instructed the jury on felony murder in the first 

degree and accomplice liability. The court instructed the jury on the lesser included 

crimes and the affirmative defense that applied to Sanders only. The jury instructions 

state that instructions 24A through 241 "apply only to defendant Gary Sanders." Jury 

instruction 24A states felony murder in the second degree, robbery in the first degree, 

and burglary in the first degree are the lesser included crimes of felony murder in the 

first degree. Jury instruction 24B defines felony murder in the second degree. Jury 

instruction 24C defines theft in the second degree. Jury instruction 24D defines 

attempted theft in the second degree. Jury instruction 24E defines "substantial step." 

Jury instruction 24F is the to-convict instruction for felony murder in the second degree. 

Jury instruction 24G is the statutory affirmative defense to murder in the first and 

second degree instruction. Jury instruction 24H is the to-convict instruction on robbery 

in the first degree. Jury instruction 241 is the to-convict instruction on burglary in the first 

degree. 

The jury found Mann and Sanders guilty of felony murder in the first degree. 

ANALYSIS 

Sanders asserts the court violated his right to due process and to present a 

defense by refusing to give a clarifying instruction to the jury during deliberations. 

Sanders claims the to-convict jury instruction and the affirmative defense jury instruction 

were ambiguous. 

The United States Constitution and the Washington State Constitution guarantee 

defendants the right to present a defense. U.S. CONST. amends. VI, XIV; WASH. CONST. 

art. I,§ 22. We review a challenged jury instruction de novo. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 
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136, 171, 892 P.2d 29 (1995). A jury instruction that misstates the law may be an error 

of constitutional magnitude. See State v. Marguez, 131 Wn. App. 566, 575-76, 127 

P.3d 786 (2006). We review de novo alleged errors of law in jury instructions. State v. 

Barnes, 153 Wn.2d 378, 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005). 

" 'Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow counsel to argue their theory of 

the case, are not misleading, and when read as a whole properly inform the trier of fact 

of the applicable law.'" State v. Knutz, 161 Wn. App. 395,403,253 P.3d 437 (2011)2 

(quoting State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 363-64, 229 P.3d 669 (2010)). When read as 

a whole, jury instructions must make the applicable legal standard "'manifestly apparent 

to the average juror.'" State v. LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d 896, 900, 913 P.2d 369 (1996), 

abrogated on other grounds by State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009)3 

(quoting State v. Allery. 101 Wn.2d 591, 595, 682 P.2d 312 (1984)). 

The court used 11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: 

Criminal 26.04, at 366 (3d ed. 2008) (WPIC), to instruct the jury on the elements of the 

crime of felony murder in the first degree. The to-convict "Jury Instruction 13" states: 

To convict a defendant of the crime of Murder in the First Degree, 
each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a 
reasonable doubt: 

(1) That on or about June 3, 2013, the defendant committed 
Robbery in the First Degree or Burglary in the First Degree; 

(2) That the defendant or another participant in the crime caused 
the death of Latasha Walker in the course of or in furtherance of such 
crime; 

(3) That Latasha Walker was not a participant in the crime of 
Robbery in the First Degree or Burglary in the First Degree; and 

(4) That any of these acts occurred in the State of Washington. 
If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been 

proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a 

2 Internal quotation marks omitted. 
3 Internal quotation marks omitted. 
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verdict of guilty. 
On the other hand, if, after weighing all of the evidence, you have a 

reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty 
to return a verdict of not guilty. 

The court used WPIC 19.01, at 291, to instruct the jury on the affirmative defense 

to felony murder in the first degree and felony murder in the second degree. WPIC 

19.01 is based on the statutory affirmative defense, RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c) and 

.050(1)(b).4 State v. Fisher, 185 Wn.2d 836,848,374 P.3d 1185 (2016); WPIC 19.01 

cmt. at 292. Jury instruction 24G states: 

It is a defense to a charge of Murder in the First and Second 
Degree that the defendant: 

(1) Did not commit the homicidal act or in any way solicit, request, 
command, importune, cause or aid the commission thereof; and 

(2) Was not armed with a deadly weapon, or any instrument, 
article, or substance readily capable of causing death or serious physical 
injury; and 

(3) Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other participant 
was armed with such a weapon, instrument, article, or substance; and 

(4) Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other participant 
intended to engage in conduct likely to result in death or serious physical 
injury. 

The defendant has the burden of proving this defense by a 
preponderance of the evidence. Preponderance of the evidence means 
that you must be persuaded, considering all the evidence in the case, that 

4 The felony murder in the second degree statute RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b) includes the same 
affirmative defense as felony murder in the first degree, RCW 9A.32.030(1)(c). RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b) 
states: 

A person is guilty of murder in the second degree when ... [h]e or she commits or 
attempts to commit any felony, including assault, other than those enumerated in RCW 
9A.32.030(1)(c}, and, in the course of and in furtherance of such crime or in immediate 
flight therefrom, he or she, or another participant, causes the death of a person other 
than one of the participants; except that in any prosecution under this subdivision (1 )(b) in 
which the defendant was not the only participant in the underlying crime, if established by 
the defendant by a preponderance of the evidence, it is a defense that the defendant: 

(i) Did not commit the homicidal act or in any way solicit, request, command, 
importune, cause, or aid the commission thereof; and 

(ii) Was not armed with a deadly weapon, or any instrument, article, or 
substance readily capable of causing death or serious physical injury; and 

(iii) Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other participant was armed 
with such a weapon, instrument, article, or substance; and 

(iv) Had no reasonable grounds to believe that any other participant intended to 
engage in conduct likely to result in death or serious physical injury. 
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held: 

it is more probably true than not true. If you find that the defendant has 
established this defense, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty 
as to this charge.£51 

In State v. Gamboa, 38 Wn. App. at 409,413, 685 P.2d 643 (1984), the court 

The statutory defense, when read as a whole, negates none of the 
elements the State was required to prove, i.e., that the defendants took 
personal property from the victim by the use or threatened use of force, in 
the course of which activity the victim's death was caused. The defense 
merely permits an accused to disprove his participation in the homicidal 
act, not in the underlying felony, and to establish that he was not armed 
and was ignorant of his coparticipant's being armed and of the likelihood 
of death or serious physical injury.!61 

See also State v. Rice, 102 Wn.2d 120, 126, 683 P.2d 199 (1984). 

The concluding instruction states, in pertinent part: 

When completing the verdict forms for defendant Gary Sanders, 
you will first consider the crime of Murder in the First Degree as charged. 
If you unanimously agree on a verdict, you must fill in the blank provided 
in verdict form A the words "not guilty" or the word "guilty," according to 
the decision you reach. If you cannot agree on a verdict, do not fill in the 
blank provided in Verdict Form A. 

If you find the defendant Gary Sanders guilty on verdict form A, do 
not use verdict forms B, C, or D. If you find the defendant not guilty of the 
crime of Murder in the First Degree, or if after full and careful 
consideration of the evidence you cannot agree on that crime, you will 
consider the lesser crime of Murder in the Second Degree. If you find the 
defendant not guilty of the crime of Murder in the Second Degree, or if 
after full and careful consideration of the evidence you cannot agree on 
that crime, you will consider both lesser crimes of Robbery in the First 
Degree and Burglary in the First Degree. You must consider each of 
these crimes separately. Your verdict on one crime should not control 
your verdict on the other. If you unanimously agree on a verdict for these 
crimes, you must fill in the blank provided in verdict form C and D the 
words "not guilty" or the word "guilty", according to the decision you reach. 

5 The WPIC 19.01 note on use at 291 states, "Use this instruction with WPIC 26.04, Murder­
First Degree-Felony-Elements, and WPIC 27.04, Murder-Second Degree-Felony-Elements, which 
set forth the elements of felony murder in the first or second degree, when there are multiple participants 
and the statutory defense is in issue." 

6 Emphasis in original. 
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Sanders does not contend that the to-convict felony murder in the first degree 

jury instruction or that the statutory affirmative defense to felony murder jury instruction 

do not accurately state the law.7 Sanders claims the instructions are ambiguous 

because the to-convict instruction states that if the jury finds the State has proved the 

elements of the crime "beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a 

verdict of guilty," but the affirmative defense instruction states that if Sanders proves the 

affirmative defense by a preponderance of the evidence, "it will be your duty to return a 

verdict of not guilty" to the charge of felony murder in the first degree. 

Considered as a whole, we conclude the instructions are not ambiguous and 

clearly address the relationship between the to-convict instruction and the affirmative 

defense instruction. The jury instructions state that during deliberations, the jury shall 

"consider the instructions as a whole." The first sentence of the affirmative defense 

instruction unequivocally states, "It is a defense to a charge of Murder in the First and 

Second Degree." The affirmative defense jury instruction states that if Sanders shows 

by a preponderance of the evidence that he did not commit the homicidal act, was not 

armed with a deadly weapon, had no reason to believe anyone else was armed, or had 

no reason to believe anyone else intended to engage in conduct likely to cause death or 

serious physical injury, it is a complete defense to felony murder in the first degree and 

the jury must find Sanders not guilty. 

We review a trial court's decision as to whether to give further instructions in 

response to a request from a deliberating jury for abuse of discretion. State v. Brown, 

7 In the cases Sanders cites, LeFaber, 128 Wn.2d 896, and State v. Campbell, 163 Wn. App. 
394, 260 P.3d 235 (2011), vacated on reconsideration by State v. Campbell, 172 Wn. App. 1009 (2012), 
the instructions did not accurately state the law. 
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132 Wn.2d 529, 612, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). A trial court's refusal to give a proposed jury 

instruction is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. In re Det. of Pouncy. 168 Wn.2d 382, 

390, 229 P.3d 678 (2010). It is within the sound discretion of the trial court whether to 

give further instructions to a jury after it has begun deliberations. State v. Ng. 110 

Wn.2d 32, 42, 750 P.2d 632 (1988). A trial court abuses its discretion only if its decision 

is manifestly unreasonable, rests on untenable grounds, or is made for untenable 

reasons. State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26,482 P.2d 775 (1971). 

Where the instructions accurately state the law, the trial court need not further 

instruct the jury. J'.ill, 110 Wn.2d at 42-44. A court does not abuse its discretion by 

referring the jury to the instructions already given that correctly state the law. !'.ill, 110 

Wn.2d at 42-44. Jury questions do not create an inference that the "entire jury was 

confused, or that any confusion was not clarified before a final verdict was reached." 

!'.ill, 110 Wn.2d at 43.8 " '[Q]uestions from the jury are not final determinations.' " !'.ill, 

10 Wn.2d at 439 (quoting State v. Miller, 40 Wn. App. 483,489, 698 P.2d 1123 (1985)). 

" '[T]he decision of the jury is contained exclusively in the verdict.' " !'.ill, 10 Wn.2d at 43 

(quoting Miller, 40 Wn. App. at 489).10 

During deliberations, the jury submitted three "Jury Deliberations Question" 

forms. On the first day of deliberations, the jury submitted a Jury Deliberations 

8 Sanders also cites Recommendation 38 from the Washington State Jury Commission that 
states, "Trial judges should make every effort to respond fully and fairly to questions from deliberating 
jurors" and "should not merely refer them to the instructions without further comment." 11A Washington 
Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal, app. H, at 834 (3d ed. 2008). 

9 Alteration in original. 
10 We note that where, as here, a defendant agrees to and proposes a jury instruction, the 

defendant cannot challenge the instruction on appeal. State v. Henderson, 114 Wn.2d 867, 870-71, 792 
P.2d 514 (1990). 
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Question: "Does the instruction# 13 apply to Defendant Gary Sanders." Sanders' 

attorney and the prosecutor agreed the court should respond by stating, "Yes." 

The next morning, the jury submitted a second Jury Deliberations Question: 

As it relates to Defendant Sanders: 

There are questions regarding the sequence of deliberations as it relates 
to the instructions 

Question #1 
If the jury determines that all of the elements of the crime as 

identified in Instruction 13 are proven, how is the jury to apply Instruction 
24G? 

Question #2 
If the jury determines that the defenses identified in Instruction 24G 

are all proven out, how does that fact affect the proof established in 
Instruction #13?1111 

Sanders proposed the court respond by stating, "If the jury agree that the four 

factors in Instruction 24G have been established, the verdicts for Defendant Gary 

Sanders on Verdict Forms A and B as to him should be Not Guilty." Sanders also 

proposed submitting a special verdict form to the jury asking, "Do the jury find that each 

of the four factors listed in Instruction 24G has been established." The court rejected 

the proposed response and special verdict form. The court responded to the jury 

inquiry by stating, "Please re-read your instructions carefully. The use of verdict forms 

and how they are to be applied is contained within." 

11 Emphasis in original. 
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That afternoon, the jury submitted a third Jury Deliberations Question: 

As it relates to Defendant Sanders: 

Can the jury convict for murder in the 1st degree based upon item 13 as 
written, without consideration of instruction 24G. 

Sanders argued the jury question was "ambiguous" and proposed the court give 

"a substitute To-Convict Instruction ... for each offense, felony murder 1 and the lesser 

crime of felony murder 2, in which the To-Convict instruction for each offense adds the 

absence of the four factors of affirmative defense." The court rejected the request. The 

court responded, "You must consider all the instructions as a whole. Read the 

instructions in their entirety." 

The following morning, the jury returned a verdict finding Sanders guilty of felony 

murder in the first degree. 

There is no dispute the court fully and fairly responded to the first jury inquiry. 

Because the second jury inquiry specifically asked questions "regarding the sequence 

of deliberations" for the to-convict and the affirmative defense, we conclude the court 

did not abuse its discretion by rejecting Sanders' request to provide a supplemental 

instruction or a special verdict form and instructing the jury to consider the instructions 

as a whole and read the instructions in their entirety. Because the jury instructions 

made the law manifestly apparent and were not ambiguous, the court did not abuse its 

discretion in responding to the third jury question by instructing the jury that it must read 

the instructions in their entirety as a whole. We presume that jurors follow the court's 

instructions. State v. Kalebaugh, 183 Wn.2d 578, 586, 355 P.3d 253 (2015). 

Sanders contends there is insufficient evidence to support the predicate crime of 

burglary in the first degree and the felony murder conviction. We considered and 
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rejected the same argument in State v. Mann, 4 Wn. App. 2d 1034, 2018 WL 3238683, 

at *5-*7. We adhere to our decision in Mann. 

We affirm the jury conviction of felony murder in the first degree. 

WE CONCUR: 
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